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UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT COURT 

  
Joseph P. Ganim        DK 10 342 PR 

          (Petitioner) 
  
VS. 
  
United States of America 

          (Respondent)       AUGUST 19, 2010 

  
SUPPLEMENT TO REQUEST FOR CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY 

I. INTRODUCTION 

 (A) 18 U.S.C. 1346 THE MAIL FRAUD STATUTE AND THE “INTANGIBLE  
  RIGHT TO HONEST SERVICES.” 
 
 On June 24, 2010, the United States Supreme Court issued a substantive ruling 

on the scope of the Federal Mail Fraud Statute 18 U.S.C. 1346 and the definition of 

what type of conduct can constitute “honest services mail fraud.” (See U.S. v Skilling 

130 S. Ct.____ 2010.  No. 08-1394). 

 Although the Supreme Court did not find the statute unconstitutional on its 

face, it did recognize serious flaws in its application to the Skilling Indictment(s) 

which were similar to those of the Petitioner. 

 “Interpreted to encompass only bribery and kickback schemes, 
§1346 is not unconstitutionally vague.  Recall that the void-for-
vagueness doctrine addresses concerns about (1)  Fair notice and 
(2) arbitrary and discriminatory prosecutions.  See Kolender, 461 
U.S. at 357.  A prohibition on fraudulently depriving another of 
one’s honest services by accepting bribes or kickbacks does not 
present a problem on either score.” 

*** 
“Today’s decision clarifies that no other misconduct falls 
within §1346’s province.  See United States v. Lanier, 520 U.S. 
259, 266 (1977) (“[C]larity at the requisite level may be supplied 
by judicial gloss  on an otherwise uncertain statute.”)  United 
States v.  Skilling 130 S.Ct. at 2933. [emphasis added] 
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 As a result of this recent substantive change in the law, the Petitioner is 

herewith amending his request for Certificate of Appealability that is presently  

pending before this Honorable Court. 

 The substantive changes in the law articulated in Skilling are retroactive to the 

extent that they apply to cases that are on collateral review.  See Teague v. Lane, 

489 U.S. 288.  (Create a new rule of a law – applied in a manner not dictated by 

controlling precedent at the time of the defendant’s conviction).  (Also see Schiriro v. 

Summerlin 542 U.S. 348, 351- (2004) “Such rules apply retroactively because they 

necessarily carry a significant risk that a defendant stands convicted of an act that 

the law does not make criminal or faces a punishment that the law cannot impose 

upon him.”) (Internal quotations and marks and citations omitted) 

 (B) THE INDICTMENT 

 Twelve of the twenty three counts of the Superseding Indictment issued by the 

Grand Jury against the Petitioner were for violations of 18 USC 1346, the Honest 

Services Mail Fraud statute. In addition, 10 of the alleged “racketeering acts” charged 

as predicate acts for the Rico count(s) allege violations of the Honest Service Mail 

Fraud statute as well.  (See Superseding Indictment as Ex. 1). 1    

 From the time the Indictment was issued in October of 2003, the Petitioner has 

contested the vague language of the honest services mail fraud counts and its 

                                                           
1  Although the Petitioner was originally indicted on 12 counts of honest services mail fraud, four of these counts 

were ultimately dismissed. The remaining counts of indictment are Rico, Rico Conspiracy, 666 bribery, Hobbs Act 
extortion (under color of official right) & Tax Fraud, among others.  
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application to the facts in his case.  The honest services mail fraud counts contained 

in the Indictment all include the language that the Supreme Court found to be 

unconstitutionally vague.  That is: 

“That the defendant together with…[others] knowingly devised and 
participated in a scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the 
citizens of Bridgeport of their right to honest and impartial 
performance of the official duties of the mayor, performed free from 
deceit, favoritism, bias conflict of interest and self enrichment…” 

  
 This specific language charging Honest Services Mail Fraud under 18 U.S.C. 1346 

is replete throughout the indictment.  In fact, this specific language is repeated as 

part of the 23 count Superseding Indictment no less than 50 times.2    

 This language is so prominent throughout the Indictment because  a majority of 

the evidence presented to the grand jury by the Government was evidence of conduct 

that was believed to constitute Honest Services Mail Fraud.  However, the bulk of this 

evidence consisted of conduct that only violated the “outer boundaries” of the 

statute and not the narrowed core conduct that is covered by the statute as 

articulated in Skilling.  

 In fact, it is doubtful that the Government would have even been able to 

obtain an indictment for the alleged mail fraud scheme had the definition of honest 

services mail fraud been clarified by the U.S. Supreme Court at the time the 

Government sought the indictment.   

                                                           
2 See Superseding Indictment at p. 9  Para 24, RA 1B-1D & p. 10 Para 25, p. 13 Para 38 RA 2B, p. 15 Para 45 RA 3A, 

p. 16 Para 50, RA 3B, p. 17 Para 55 RA 3B, p. 18 Para 58 & 59 RA 4A, p. 19 Para 16 TA 4B, p. 20 Para 66 & 68 RA 
4B, p. 21 Para 71 RA 5A-5B, p. 22 Para 72, 73, 74, 75, RA 5A-5B, p. 23 Para 77 RA 5A-5B, p.. 27 Para 97 & 98 RA 7B-
7E, p. 30-31 Para 109 & 110 RA 8B, p. 33 Para 120 & 121 RA 8E, p. 34 Para 122 RA 9, p. 35 Para 128 RA 9, p. 38-39, 
Para 140, 141 & 143 RA 10B & 11A-11B, p. 40-41, Para 146, 152, 153, 154 RA 11A-11B, p. 44 Para 162 & 163 CT 4-6, 
p. 46-47 Para 167, 168, 170, 171, 173 CTS 8, 12, 13, p. 48 Para 173-174 CT 13 & 14, p. 51, Para 183 & 184 CT 17, 
p. 52 Para 186 7187, CTS 18 p. 53 Para 189 & 190 CT 19 p. 55 Para 196 & 197 CT 21. 
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II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 Shortly after the Indictment was filed and months prior to the Petitioner’s jury 

trial, the Petitioner filed a timely Motion to Dismiss.  This motion, in part, challenged 

the use of Honest Services Mail Fraud counts by the Government.  The motion was 

based upon the lack of “notice” that the statute provided as to the type of conduct 

that it prohibited.  The motion also attacked the wording of the Indictment.  In his 

motion, the Petitioner claimed that the lack of “notice” provided by the language of 

the statute as well as the Indictment denied him of his 5th Amendment due process 

rights as guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution. 

 Following oral arguments, the District Court denied the Petitioner’s motion. 

(Ex. 2 Ruling).  However, the Court notes that the Petitioner’s motion had 

“currency,” with regards to the wording of both the Indictment and the statute.  As a 

result, the District Court did two things in an attempt to save the Indictment and the 

Government’s case from dismissal.  

 First, the District Court attempted to narrow the statute’s applicability to the 

Petitioner by limiting the Government’s Honest Services Mail Fraud theory of 

prosecution to only honest services mail fraud by way of “bribery and extortion”.  

(See Ex. 2 Ruling p. 1) 

 Second, the District Court, while noting the “lack of precision” in the language 

of the Indictment, decided, sua sponte, to reopen the Petitioner’s request for a Bill of 

Particulars. The District Court then ordered the Government to particularize the 

allegations that claimed “benefits” had  been provided to the Petitioner in exchange 

for official act(s) or action(s).  (See Ex. 2 Ruling p. 2)     
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 Despite these rulings -- and even after being ordered to file a Supplemental Bill 

of Particulars -- the Government refused to fully particularize the Indictment to any 

meaningful degree.  (See Supplemental Bill of Particulars as Ex. 3)  In fact, the 

Government simply continued to allege various vague benefits such as “meals and 

entertainment” throughout the Supplemental Bill of Particulars just as they had done 

in the Indictment.  These numerous meals were claimed to have been provided to the 

Petitioner with enough frequency over a long enough of a period of time for the 

Government to prosecute the Petitioner for multiple violations of Honest Services Mail 

Fraud.  This was allowed without any evidence of a specific “meal,” “gift” or 

“entertainment” being provided to the Petitioner in exchange for - or even connected 

to - a specific official act (bribery).  

 For example, the Supplemental Bill of Particulars alleged that the Petitioner 

received the benefit of $1048 of meals and entertainment over a 10 month period in 

1995 (or about $26/week).  With these meals, the Government simply asserted that 

they were connected to Counts 1 and 2 of the indictment.  Count 1 and Count 2 are 

the Rico and Rico Conspiracy counts.  They are not even substantive honest service 

mail fraud counts or bribery counts. 

 Elsewhere in the Supplemental Bill of Particulars, the Government asserted 

that during calendar year 1996 the Petitioner received some $2658 in meals and 

entertainment (or about $51/week) and contended in the Supplemental Bill that 

these benefits were connected in general to Counts 1-6.  This again was done without 

tying them at all to official acts (bribery). 
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 By the time the Supplemental Bill of Particulars reached calendar year 1997, 

there ceased to be any pretense of drawing any links at all.  The food and 

entertainment expenditures were then tied to no fewer than 8 counts.  This was again 

done with the Government failing to connect any single expenditure to any specific 

act (bribery).  

 As a result the Supplemental Bill of Particulars provided no greater degree of 

“notice” as to exactly how the Petitioner was alleged to have violated his duty to 

provide the “intangible right to honest services” as a public official.  Nor did it assist 

in narrowing the applicability of the statute to “bribery and extortion” as was the 

intent of the District Court when it ruled on the Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss.    

 Just prior to trial, the Petitioner made a Motion in Limine to prevent the 

Government from introducing all of these -- still unconnected -- “benefits” (meals and 

entertainment) into evidence as proof of honest services fraud.  (See Ex. 4 - Motion in 

Limine, pp. 3-6)  The Government’s disclosure of sworn Grand Jury testimony and 

witnesses’ statements to the F.B.I in the form of “302s” had fallen far short of an 

adequate offer of proof for admitting these items into evidence before the jury to 

prove honest services mail fraud by way of a “bribery or extortion” scheme. 

 The District Court, however, denied the Petitioner’s Motion in Limine and with 

that allowed the Government a free hand to introduce an enormous amount of 

evidence that effectively reintroduced the outer boundaries of the Honest Services 

Mail Fraud statute back into the case. 
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 During the January 6, 2003 oral arguments on the Defendant’s Motion in 

Limine, the following discussions took place: (See Ex. 5 Tr. pp 34-36) 

P. 34, lines 2-21 
 
The Court: Why do they have to? 
 
Mr. Maffeo: Because if they don’t what they have essentially done is they have 

now reintroduced into the case essentially a gratuity theory.  If the 
government’s going to be allowed to argue that you avoid linking up 
official action with specific benefits, then essentially we are now 
where we started with this case, which is with the jury faced with the 
situation, well, geez, if these people were going out and wining and 
dining the mayor so much and he ended up selecting one of their clients, 
then that must be corrupt.  That’s not the issue in this case.  [emphasis 
added] 

 
The Court: The issue is whether or not in accepting all of the wining and dining and 

gifts and so forth it was with any part an intent to be influenced in 
official actions that were taken.  That’s the dispute here, whether or 
not it’s just to have a relationship or whether or not it is to obtain 
favoritism and preferences. 

 
P. 36, lines 12-25 to P. 37, lines 1-18 
 
 
Mr. Maffeo: That is the issue for this trial, but I guess even the donee, I guess the 

mayor would be the donee, to use the Court’s example, how do you 
defend a case like that?  Is it a donor that had two weeks before the 
selection that was the triggering event for the defendant’s intent to be 
corrupt, intent to be influenced, is it the fact that these people have 
gone out for dinner with each other repeatedly over a period of time 
that was tied to various events?  [emphasis added] 

 
 I mean, how is the jury capable of being able to sort of distinguish 

among this mass of complimentary benefits afforded to the mayor, what 
was received by him with a corrupt intent as well as what was to be 
received by him with just a generalized relationship between the 
parties?  If you took any single lobbyist and put him or her under 
examination as to why he or she took a public official out to a golf 
outing or to a sporting event or to a meal, the distinguishing line, as far 
as criminal conduct, is whether or not it was done or received in 
exchange for an official act. 
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 If you just simply got lunch, what is essentially, we’ve argued before, 
traditional lobbying practice, I mean a lay juror is going to infer, gee, if 
they’re taking out a public official, they’re probably doing it because 
they have some generalized interest of getting on his or her good side.  
That is a far cry, that is a far cry from the sort of corrupt intent I 
believed and thought that the Court was talking about in its two prior 
decisions.  (referring to the court ruling on the Motion to Dismiss and the 
order for the Government to file a Supplemental Bill of Particulars) 

 

III. THE TRIAL:  HONEST SERVICES MAIL FRAUD 

 The denial of the Motion in Limine was a retreat by the District Court from its 

earlier ruling on the Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss allowed the Government to adopt a 

strategy of inundating the jury with testimony about “meals and entertainment” that 

were provided for the benefit of the Petitioner, despite never connecting these items 

at all to any official action (bribery).  The District Court allowed this evidence to be  

admitted as proof that the Petitioner’s receipt of these “things of value” rendered 

him guilty of the crime of honest services mail fraud. 

 This evidence, along with a “watered-down” jury charge on the elements of 

honest services mail fraud (as well as bribery and extortion) allowed the jury to 

convict the Petitioner based upon a standard that does not comply with the recent 

United States S.C. ruling in Skilling. 

 For example, the Government asked its star witnesses numerous detailed 

questions concerning their payment for meals and entertainment expenses on behalf 

of the Petitioner.  The Government elicited the names of restaurants and amounts of 

the bill for individual meals.  E.g., 2/7/03 Tr. 4369-70 (“And during the early months 

of 1997, were you providing various types of benefits to Mayor Ganim? …Including  
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expensive meals and entertainment? …And do you recall going to the Willet House 

…And the first meal is close to $400 and the second meal is some $275?”) (See also 

2/6/03 Tr. 4290, 4291; 2/7/03 Tr. 4317-18, 4339, 4370-71, 4371-72, 4372-73, 4415-16 

as Ex. 6) 

 Absent an allegation, much less proof, that the “meals and entertainment” 

expenditures were received by the Petitioner with the intent to be influenced with 

respect to specific official acts, they were not “bribes” as would be a permissible 

construction of Honest Services Mail Fraud.  These were either lawful gifts or at worse 

mere gratuities.  Yet the Government was permitted to try the Petitioner for his 

acceptance of them.   

 As a result of this expanded interpretation of Honest Services Mail Fraud, the 

prosecution transformed the trial of the Petitioner for what should have been defined 

offenses into a public referendum on preferred standards of good government.  This 

was done in the first instance by the Government’s failure to make the requisite 

allegations in the indictment, even as particularized, in connection with the meals  

and entertainment.  Then, with the denial of the Petitioner’s Motion in Limine, the 

Government was able to use - with great theatrical effect - the receipt of these 

benefits as evidence of wrongdoing. 

IV. CHARGE TO THE JURY OF AN EXTORTION SCHEME AS HONEST SERVICES MAIL 
FRAUD 

 

 When charging the jury on the applicable law in the case, the District Court 

proceeded to charge the jury on the law of honest services mail fraud with an overly 

broad version (of mail fraud).  It included a definition of honest services mail fraud as 

either a “bribery or extortion” scheme.  
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 This confusing charge offered two alternative theories of law.  The charge, 

coupled with the wording of the Indictment and the facts in the case, allowed the 

Petitioner to be convicted based upon conduct that has now been deemed to be 

outside that which is covered by the Honest Services Mail Fraud statute. 

 In defining the elements of Honest Services Mail Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 

1346, the District Court instructed the jury that to convict it must find, that the 

scheme either involved “bribery or extortion.”  

 “The first element that the government must prove is that there 
was a scheme or artifice to deprive the citizens of Bridgeport of their 
intangible right of honest services. With respect to the racketeering act 
charging honest services mail fraud, to convict, you must find that the 
defendant engaged in a scheme to receive something of value with the 
corrupt intent to be influenced in the performance of an official act, 
that’s for the bribery, or through the unlawful use of force, violence 
or fear, including fear of economic loss or harm and that’s the 
extortion type racketeering acts.” 
 
 The public official owes a duty of honest faithful and 
disinterested service to the public. Officials of government, local state 
and federal are relied upon to act in the public interest and not for their 
own enrichment. When a public official acts to enrich himself or herself 
through his or her office using bribery or extortion schemes, he or she 
acts against the public’s expectation that he or she will work for and 
serve the public welfare. 
 
 So when a public official agrees to be corruptly influenced in the 
performance of his or her acts or duties by bribery or extortion, he or 
she breaches this duty of honest, faithful and disinterested service 
because he or she outwardly purports to be exercising independent 
judgment in official work, but instead has been paid privately for the 
outcome or deed. And thus, the public is not receiving what it expects 
and is entitled to, namely the public official’s honest and faithful 
services. So that is where that comes from.” (The charge goes on to give 
the definition of the term “bribe” as discussed below.)  (Tr. p. 7703-
7706 as Ex. 7) 
 

 One of the problems with this charging language on the honest services mail 

fraud counts is the inclusion of the “extortion” theory as a viable basis upon which 
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the jury may have rendered its verdict.  This District Court created “theory” as a 

basis for a conviction of honest services mail fraud and is barred by Skilling.  

 This charge to the jury contained two alternative legal theories, either of 

which may have been relied upon by the jury in rendering a verdict.  They were: 

 (1)  Honest services mail fraud by way of a “bribery” scheme;  

 (2)  Honest services mail fraud by way of an “extortion” scheme. 

 The District Court’s charge to the jury left open the possibility that the jury 

may have convicted based upon--what is now clearly--a legally incorrect instruction 

on what constitutes honest services mail fraud: “extortion”.  As a result, these counts 

of honest service mail fraud must be reversed.  “In Garcia 992 F. 2nd at 413 414-415, 

we reversed the conviction because only the second alternative presented in the jury 

charge satisfied… [a legally correct instruction].”  U.S. v. Ganim, 510 F.3rd 134 (2007) 

 In Garcia the Court stated as follows: 
 

“We thus have a case in which the jury was given three disjunctive basis 
for conviction, one of which was legally sufficient and two of which were 
legally insufficient. We cannot tell the basis upon which the jury based 
its conviction of Garcia.” 

 
In another case, Griffin v. United States, 112 S.Ct. 466, 116 L.Ed.2d 371 (1991) 

“…the Supreme Court held that where a jury convicted a defendant on a 
double object conspiracy charge, the court of appeals properly affirmed 
a general guilty verdict where the evidence was sufficient to establish 
one of those objectives, but insufficient to establish the other.   
 

* * * 
 

 The Court distinguished Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298, 77 
S.Ct. 1064, 1 L.Ed.2d 1356 (1957), in which, Griffin stated, the Court 
had held that where one of two objects of a conspiracy charge was 
"insufficient in law," ___ U.S. at ___, 112 S.Ct. at 470 [emphasis added], 
"the proper rule to be applied is that which requires a verdict to be 
set aside in cases where the verdict is supportable on one ground, 

http://www.loislaw.com/pns/doclink.htp?alias=USCASE&cite=354+U.S.+298
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but not on another, and it is impossible to tell which ground the jury 
selected." Id. (quoting Yates) [emphasis added]  …Thus, the teaching of 
Griffin is that when disjunctive theories are submitted to the jury and 
the jury renders a general verdict of guilty, appeals based on 
evidentiary deficiencies must be treated differently than those based 
on legal deficiencies. If the challenge is evidentiary, as long as there 
was sufficient evidence to support one of the theories presented, then 
the verdict should be affirmed.  However, if the challenge is legal and 
any of the theories was legally insufficient, then the verdict must be 
reversed.”  [emphasis added] 

 
 In the Petitioner’s case, as in Garcia, although one of the theories upon which 

the case was submitted to the jury may have been legally sufficient, (But also see 

discussion below as to the insufficiency of the language contained in the honest 

services bribery section of the jury charge) the other theory: honest services fraud 

by way of an “extortion” scheme is, without dispute, legally insufficient.  Since 

the Petitioner’s conviction may have been based upon the honest services mail fraud 

by way of an “extortion” scheme it follows that the Petitioner’s “conviction for that 

crime cannot stand.”  Garcia (supra) at 40. 

 Prior to the Supreme Court’s decision in Skilling, this alternative theory of 

honest services mail fraud (e.g. bribery or extortion) was not reversible error because 

both were considered to be legally correct theories of prosecution under the conduct 

then thought to be covered by 18 USC 1346 honest services mail fraud. (Although 

factually insufficient, “…appeals based on evidentiary deficiencies must be treated  

differently than those based on legal deficiencies.”)  Griffin (Supra, at 466) [emphasis 

added]. We now know that any theory of prosecution that is not “bribery or 

kickbacks” is not covered by 18 USC 1346 Honest Service Mail Fraud.  As a result, 

these convictions must be reversed. 
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V. THE JURY CHARGE OF A BRIBERY SCHEME AS HONEST SERVICES MAIL FRAUD 
IS ALSO LEGALLY INSUFFICENT BASED UPON THE DISTRICT COURT’S 
EXPANDED DEFINITION OF “BRIBERY” AS APPLIED TO THE INDICTMENT AND 
FACTS OF THIS CASE 

 
 Despite the District Court’s Ruling that gave the veneer of narrowing the reach 

of the honest services mail fraud statute to “bribery” (and “extortion”), the later 

decisions by the District Court on the Motion in Limine and the Charge to the jury 

(over objection by the Petitioner) re-interjected these very issues -- which had been 

thought to have been taken away from the jury -- back into the case.  This issue was 

discussed at length during a charging conference with the District Court on February 

28, 2003, pp. 24-26.  (Ex. 8) 

* * * 
Mr. Maffeo: Here is my concerning with this, Judge, and in our request to charge we 

had requested the Court not give language like this.  We in fact 
admitted it’s a concern.  What you are effectively -- most respectfully, 
I think the net result of this language is to read back into the statute, 
at least as far as the jury is concerned, you know, some sort of 
overarching notion of, you know, public ethics or conflict of interest 
which have been written out of the official -- the honest services 
with respect to this case.  I don’t think the jury needs or should be 
charged on what the, you know, public official’s duties are with 
respect to enrichment.  It’s really irrelevant. 

 
 The issue here in the context of how the jury is going to be charged with 

respect to an honest service violation -- honest services violation in this 
case is going to be whether or not they find that the defendant took, 
received something of value in exchange for official actions or, you 
know, as stated.  However, the Court states it with respect to, you 
know, in it’s -- you know, elsewhere in the charge.  This re-interjects 
issues that I thought had been taken away from the jury, and I think 
it tends to inevitably and unavoidably water down the bribery and 
extortion elements that are at the core of the honest services 
deprivation as the Court charges elsewhere. 
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 So I would ask to eliminate that along with the language about seeking 
to enrich himself and just simply say that, you know, the references to 
public welfare.  I mean, it really just comes down to if a public official 
agrees to be corruptly influenced he breaches this duty of honest, 
faithful and disinterested service.  That’s the sentence I would 
respectfully argue -- that’s the only sentence I think that should be in 
here, and that everything else is auditory, confusing and reintroduces, 
as I said, issues that I think -- or I thought were taken out of the case.3  

 
The jury was charged on the bribery scheme as being “a scheme to receive something 

of value with the corrupt intent to be influenced in the performance of an official 

act.”  In terms paralleling those used in the Hobbs Act charge, the Court explained 

that: 

If the public official knows he or she is expected as a result of 
the payment to exercise particular kinds of influence or decision 
making to the benefit of the payor, and, at the time the payment 
is accepted, intended to do so as specific opportunities arose, 
that is bribery.  App. 480.  (Tr. p. 7706 as Ex. 9) 

 

 Under this instruction, the Government again did not have to prove a 

connection between one or more benefits and any particular act (bribery).  It was 

enough that the Government link the gift to a “kind[] of influence” or decision 

making  with the phrase “particular kinds of influence” being perilously unclear. 

 Despite the District Court’s initial ruling to narrow §1346 to a much more 

acceptable application, once the trial began, this ruling was abandoned.  The 

admission of all of the evidence regarding meals, gifts and entertainment allowed the 

jury to do just what the ruling in Skilling was intended to prevent.  That is conduct 

that may implicate the “imprecise …outermost boundaries of the statute”. 

                                                           
3
   The Court does indicate at this conference that she will add other language to the proposed charge.  That additional 

language however does not resolve the issue(s) presented here. 
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 The express intent of the Supreme Court’s ruling in Skilling is to prevent a 

defendant like the Petitioner from being indicted and convicted on charges and 

evidence of the Petitioner’s conduct constituting a violation of the “intangible right 

to honest services” – without even knowing exactly what the phrase means. 

 The Supreme Court was very specific in the interpretation of the law as it 

stated in Skilling.  “Interpreted to encompass only bribery and kickback schemes, 

§1346 is not unconstitutionally vague.”  Skilling at 48. 

 The Supreme Court went on to specifically cite to the language contained in 

the federal bribery statutes so as to clarify the acceptable language for prosecuting 

bribery and kickbacks under honest services mail fraud.  

 “As to arbitrary prosecutions, we perceive no significant risk that the honest 

services statute, as we interpret it today, will be stretched out of shape.  Its 

prohibition on bribes and kickbacks draws content not only from the pre-McNally case 

law, but also from federal statutes proscribing - and defining - similar crimes.”  See, 

e.g., 18 U.S.C. §§201(b), 666(a) (2); 41 U.S.C. §52(2).  Skilling at p.48.4 

 None of these federal statutes or the referenced “pre-McNally” case law 

contains language even similar to the charging language used by the District Court 

(over objection) in the Petitioner’s case. 

 The District Court’s charge to the jury on the law along with the language of 

the Indictment and the evidence presented all combined to allow the Petitioner to be 

convicted of conduct that would - at most - be a violation of the “outermost 

                                                           
4
   18 USC §201(b) includes the express language “to influence any official act” “being influenced in the performance of any 

official act” and “being induced to do or omit to do any act in violation of the official duty of such official or person”. 
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boundaries” of the statute which has now been ruled to not be within the purview of 

the statute. 

V. CONCLUSION 

 Neither the language of the indictment nor the language of the jury charge 

comply with the U.S.S.C. ruling in Skilling which now has clearly defined the limited 

reach of §1346. 

 In addition, despite the early attempt to narrow the breadth of §1346, the 

District Court still allowed enormous amounts of evidence to be presented to the  jury 

along with a flawed Indictment and then a watered-down jury charge.  This 

Indictment would never had been obtained had the Honest Services Mail Fraud statute 

been properly interpreted (per the Skilling decision) at the time these allegations 

against the Petitioner were presented.  Even though the jury charge language on the 

bribery scheme was narrowed to some degree, it still fell short of the U.S. Supreme 

Court’s holding in Skilling.  

 The extortion language is without question outside of the “misconduct” that 

falls within §1346’s province.  These counts of conviction must be dismissed. 

 WHEREFORE, the Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to: 

 (1) Dismiss the Honest Services Mail Fraud counts of the Indictment that 

contain an allegation of extortion; 

 (2) Dismiss the Honest Services Mail Fraud counts of the Indictment that 

contain the flawed charge to the jury as to bribery; 

 (3) Dismiss all of the honest services mail fraud counts of the Indictment 

based upon the claims made in the Petitioner’s original Motion to Dismiss; 
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 (4) Grant the Petitioner C.O.A. on these issues and order further Briefing on 

these issues; and 

 (5) Remand the remaining counts of the indictment to the District Court for 

a full hearing on this issue of whether the reversal of the mail fraud counts “touches” 

on the validity of any of the other counts of the Indictment from the “spill-over” 

effect of the evidence that was presented at trial, as discussed above.  (See “whether 

potential reversals of the [Mail Fraud] count[s] touches any of [The Petitioner’s] 

other convictions is also an open question.”  Skilling supra at p. 50. 

 

 

      By        
         Joseph P. Ganim, The Petitioner, (Pro-se) 

 
CERTIFICATION 

 
I hereby certify that I have this day forwarded a complete copy of this motion 

and exhibits to: 

Sandra Slack Glover 
U.S. Attorney’s Office 
New Haven 
157 Church Street, 23rd Floor 
New Haven, Connecticut 06510 
sandra.glover@usdoj.gov. 
 
 

___________________________ 
      Joseph P. Ganim, Petitioner 
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